
 

 

 
 
June 9, 2022 
 
 
 
Commissioner Hester Peirce 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F Street, NW 
Washington, DC  20549 
 
VIA OVERNIGHT MAIL 

 
Dear Commissioner Peirce: 
 
Thank you for joining us on our call last Friday.  We very much appreciate having the 
opportunity to discuss the very important topic of preserving money market funds (“MMFs”) for 
the benefit of investors, issuers and markets.  We also wanted to take this opportunity to follow-
up on several issues discussed at our meeting. 
 
MMFs continue to provide investors, issuers and markets with a short-term, diversified, high-
quality investment option other than bank deposits or so-called stable coins, despite constant 
central bank pressure to eliminate the utility of MMFs, thereby “regulating them out of 
existence”, a concept considered by the Federal Reserve in 2010.1 Former Federal Reserve Bank 
President Rosengren, a long-standing critic of MMFs, stated, and we quote in our April 11, 2022 
comment letter that his “personal preference would be not to have prime money market funds.”2 
In pushing their false narrative as to the role MMFs have in short-term funding markets and, 
specifically, the impact MMFs had on the market turmoil experienced in the Liquidity Crisis, 
central banks continue to ignore not only the lack of any data supporting its assertions that 
MMFs played a role in the March 2020 Liquidity Crisis, but also the dramatic reduction in size 
of the prime MMF universe after the SEC’s 2014 amendments.   

 

We fully agree with your position that it would have been beneficial to see how MMFs would 
have fared in the Liquidity Crisis without any extraordinary market intervention.  Doing so 
would have avoided all of the needless time and effort spent correcting the false narrative spread  

 
1 Z. Pozsar, T. Adrian, A. Ashcroft & H. Boesky, Shadow Banking, Federal Reserve Bank of New York Staff Reports 
No. 458, at 6 (July 2010). As originally published, at page 6 the Staff Report read: “whether shadow banks should 
have access to official backstops permanently, or be regulated out of existence.” Available in its original 2010 form 
at https://www.newyorkfed.org/medialibrary/media/research/staff_reports/sr458_July_2010_version.pdf. The 
Staff Report was subsequently revised in February 2012 to delete this sentence: 
https://www.newyorkfed.org/medialibrary/media/research/staff_reports/sr458.pdf. 
 
2 Eric Rosengren, President, Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, Financial Stability Factors and the Severity of the 
Current Recession, Robert Glauber Lecture, Harvard Kennedy School Institute of Politics, at minute 101:08‐104:40 
(Nov. 10, 2020), available at https://iop.harvard.edu/forum/financial‐stability‐factors‐and‐severity‐
currentrecession. 
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by central banks regarding MMFs.  Data supports that nearly all MMFs had ample liquidity to 
operate as intended if the improper linkage of liquidity levels and potential imposition of fees 
and gates had not been in place.  This is why it is so important to investors, issuers and markets 
to simply correct the problem at hand – remove the improper linkage.   
 
We also discussed the documented evidence that Boards, when deemed appropriate in exercising 
their fiduciary duty, will in fact make a difficult decision to implement either a gate or liquidity 
fee.  As we noted in our response, contrary to this assumption, there is documented evidence 
(Putnam) that boards are not loathe to implement temporary fees and gates when doing so is in 
the best interest of a MMF and its shareholders.3 The repeated concerns included in the Proposal 
that directors would not, in accordance with their fiduciary duty, implement a liquidity fee if 
doing so was in the best interest of the fund and its shareholders not only calls into question the 
U.S. fund governance model but is incredibly offensive to boards that discharged their duties 
faithfully and spent countless hours working with MMF advisors to ensure that U.S. MMFs 
successfully maneuvered through the Liquidity Crisis.  Moreover, as we discussed, MMFs that 
did access emergency programs during the Liquidity Crisis did pay a penalty rate of 1%. 
 
It is important to remember that there is a demonstrable difference between historical issues 
experienced within MMFs and those experienced during the global pandemic.  The MMF 
industry and the broader markets have survived many issues including issuers with structural 
deficiencies (inverse floaters/Orange County, SIV’s) and issuers with credit deficiencies 
(Integrated Resources, Mortgage and Realty Trust, Bear Stearns, Mercury Finance) with minimal 
impact on the broader markets.  The external crises however which were thrust upon MMFs, 
where MMFs were neither the cause nor exacerbated market stress (2008 Financial Crisis and 
2020 Liquidity Crisis), were market-wide stresses, and in the case of 2020 disruptions in multiple 
markets followed by a complete freezing of the short-term funding markets when investors 
sought safety in the face of lockdowns associated with the pandemic.   
 
While there is no data supporting any benefits of Swing Pricing,4 and all evidence and market 
intelligence notes that an unencumbered discretionary liquidity fee is the most appropriate 
targeted mechanism to apply the cost of liquidity to redeeming shareholders in times of market  
stress to avoid any material dilution.  Should the Commission be unalterably wed to the concept 
of swing pricing, we urge the Commission to follow the approach of global policy makers and 
include swing pricing, along with discretionary fees, as alternative tools in a Board’s tool bag,  

 
3 See, e.g., Diana B. Henriques, “Professional Money Fund is Closed by Putnam,” NY TIMES (Sep. 18, 2008), 
available at https://www.nytimes.com/2008/09/19/business/19money.html; see also Comment Letter of 
Federated Investors, Inc. (May 14, 2014), available at https://www.sec.gov/comments/s7‐03‐13/s70313‐360.pdf. 
4 See 2022 MMF Release, page 185, noting a lack of data which would support estimates of dilution that could 
have been recaptured or the prevalence of other sources of dilution.  
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